My Mom Passes Away 

     June the 4th 1988 mom had a massive stroke first thing in the morning and passed away. Dad in his wheel chair was not well enough to attend her funeral. Mom’s funeral service was held at the Lockhart Funeral home in Mitchell.

     I don’t think anyone is ever quite ready to see his or her parents pass away. They may be old, weak and frail but while they are with us our lives and the lives of the family circles around about them. They give balance to the family they represent. They are the rock, the glue that holds us all together. When they pass away we find ourselves thrust forward to fill that vacuum and that is somewhat scary. 

    I remember that morning as I travelled north on the 23 highway south of Mitchell on the way to the funeral home. I felt numb and still in shock. Then suddenly the smell of new mowed clover hay wafer into the car. In  that instant my mind was set at ease, as it seemed my mom was saying to me,  “Jack do not weep for me, for I was ready to go. Smell that new mowed hay it is ready for the harvest. To each and all living things there comes a time that we must go.                     I am now at peace.”

Mike and Jigs Chubak Pull Up Stakes and Go West

    All winter long my friends Mike and Jigs Chubak’s only thoughts were of Creston BC and the piece of land they had bought out in the valley. In the spring they ended up selling everything here in the Ontario and moving west to Creston BC. They found a place to rent while they investigated the cost of building a house out on the land they had bought. For one thing Mike wanted to build the house near the back end of the property in front of the bush. He loves nature and that is where he wanted to be. There was a road line all down the west side of his land but as yet no road, and for one person they were not going to move yet to build it. So he would have to upgrade a lane the full length of his property from the existing road. Then he would also have to bring in the electric power, which would cost him a fortune; also he needed a well for water. Upon checking on all these costs it seemed just too much. What they actually needed were other new neighbours to move into the valley and share the cost.

    Upon checking the cost of houses in town they were amazed to find that you could buy a nice clapboard house for $36,000 to $42,000, and therein lies a story.

     Creston was full of nice little vacant houses all with weathered wood siding in need of repairs, paint or recovered with new vinyl siding. It seemed that during the eighties the Japanese flocked to BC with a lot of money to invest in many things. Lumber and surface coal mining were high on the list. There were few good year- round paying jobs to be had in the Creston area. So anyone who wanted a good pay check had to go north to where the jobs were, places like Kamloops, Williams Lake or Prince George. Many just locked the door on the house and went north thinking that in time they would come back. However places like Prince George became a big city of 75,000 people and it offered all the benefits of big city life where Creston was strictly a beautiful but small mountain town. So the houses in Creston were for sale……….cheap.

     During the eighties many second world war veterans who retuned to Alberta after the war were turning 65 and tired of a lifetime of hard winters. They dreamt of a little home in the BC interior where it was not so cold, a place where they could enjoy a rose garden and some fruit trees and free of shovelling snow. Creston is just a day’s drive from Calgary, Lethbridge or Fort McLeod and all of Southern Alberta. Mike started to buy up some of these homes, remodel and cover them with vinyl siding. As fast as he could fix them up he sold them.
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    Over the next few years I flew out to Calgary and visited the Oddies at Pincher Creek then rented a car and drove out to see Mike and Jigs, Now I don’t want to get ahead of my story here as I will be writing more about my ventures into BC. 

     Meanwhile back in Ontario Jack is still cutting hair at his shop “The Village Corner Barber Shop” at Jalna and Meg. My business was stable but never quite what I wanted it to be. I know all about watching the end of the month come up and having to meet rent and utility bills. Still I had always managed to keep a kitty for a new car when the time came so I didn’t have to go into debt.

I Trade My Z 28 for a Grand AM

     I was getting a lot of miles on my Camaro Z 28 by the fall of 1989 and my mechanic said it was time to let it go. He told me a number of things he felt were going to go wrong with it. So he offered me $4,000.00 for it, and I was a bit shocked. I had paid just over $16.000.00 for it in 1983 and I had the feeling a Camaro would hold its price better then that. The motor had always leaked oil at the gaskets and he made a big thing of that saying the motor would have to come out to do this work and it would cost me a lot of money. A friend of mine told me once he never saw a General Motors car that didn’t leak some oil at the gaskets and not to worry too much about it. So I took the risk of taking the car to the car wash and using a degreaser and then washing the motor up clean. It looked really super and didn’t show any real leaks. The car itself was without any rust and looking like new. It drew a lot of great comments, and every kid on the block wanted it, but didn’t have the money. 

      I put it out on the lot with a 4 sale sign on it with an asking price of $8,000.00. 

 I had a lot of offers but not quite what I wanted. Then one day at noon a man came in and asked about the car. He said that his son was looking for a black Z 28 with the same bottom lines I had on mine and that his son would come to see the car the next morning. 

    The next morning the boy and his mother were on the lot waiting on me when I arrived. The boy’s eyes were shining bright as he walked across the lot to look at the car. He could hardly contain himself. After walking around the car a couple of times he got in behind the steering wheel and looked out over the dash and at the upholstering that was spotless.  I can see him now; he hit the steering wheel twice with the palms of his hands and said,

    “Mom, this is it, this is it, this is the car I want.” This poor boy was in love, and I was sure I was going to sell him this car.

 

    We went into the shop to talk about the deal and the mother offered me $7,000.00 and I said no the price is firm at $8,000.00. She offered me $7,250.00 and again I declined. The poor boy said, 

    “Mom” in a pitiful and pleading voice.

    The mother offered me $7,500.00. Again I reminded her that the price was firm. 

The poor boy again looked at his mom in desperation and wailed,

    “Mom”

    She offered me $7,750.00 but I held firm. The boy and his mom went back out on the lot to look at the car again and I wondered if I was pushing my luck. But in ten minutes they came back in and said they would take the car at $8,000.00, and she gave me a down payment. They let me drive the car for a week so I would have transportation to go to dealers to buy my new one. I knew they lived just off Trafalgar Street and one day a year later I happened to be driving by and I saw the car sitting in the drive spotlessly clean, so I stopped to ask them how it had turned out. They were happy with it and had no real problems. I noted it now had tinted dark window glass and sporting new wheels. They showed it to me with pride and somehow it made me happy that it had found a good home.

     I finally settled for a 1989 two door black Pontiac Grand AM SE which cost me $22,260.20. I arranged for the buyer of my old car to buy it from the dealer, as at that time there was only a Provincial Tax on the difference, which you had to pay between your old and the new car. The federal government collected a hidden tax, which the dealer paid when he ordered the car. This was the last car I was able to buy where we didn’t have to pay a Federal Tax. The new way was supposed to be better for us as it lowered the cost of the car when you went to buy. However today you must pay the whole tax on the value of a new car and not on the difference. By changing the rules the government always wins.
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My New 89 Pontiac Grand AM SE

The VON Decides To Move
    About this time there was much talk going on in the VON building about moving to a new location. They had outgrown the facilities and especially the parking lot. Also the people living in Mr. Buchanan’s apartment building were constantly complaining about the traffic under their windows and at all hours.

    On the other hand Mr. Buchanan was getting older and found the work a bit more then he could handle. One day as I was chatting with the Buchanans about the possibility of losing my job if the VON moved out and he asked me if I would consider taking on the custodian work in his building. He asked me what I was paid at the VON and I told him $150.00 plus a free apartment and utilities. He said he would offer me the same deal except that I would have to pay for my hydro and cable TV. Then he added,

    “ I promise you it will be a whole lot less work than looking after the VON building.”

     It was late fall 1989 and he wanted me to start right away as he was going in for a hip replacement sometime soon. First I felt I should talk to the VON, as after 19 years of being their custodian I’m sure they looked at me as being just a part of the environment, or perhaps a permanent fixture to their property. They told me they were close to closing a deal on property on York Street. I suggested that I would stay on for awhile and do the work for both of them as best I could while I cleaned and redecorated the apartment at Mr. Buchanan’s before I moved in. My friend John was a big help to me at that time taking the cupboard doors off and sanding them of the many layers of paint over the years, then repainting the cupboard inside and out and putting on new Amerock handles and hinges.  

    One thing that bothered me greatly was that the previous tenant had watered plants in huge pots sitting right on the carpet and rotted a huge hole in two places. 

When you vacuumed over the spots you grabbed the carpet and ripped up more. This was the original carpet that was put down in the building. It was old and well worn. I wanted a new one, but Mr. Buchanan said no to that. So I ordered new carpet on my own and told Mr. Buchanan I would just lay it down on top of his and not fasten it down so if I was to leave I could take it with me.

Mr. Buchanan came to me with a deal. If I removed the old carpet and took it to the curb he would pay for a new under pad and the installing of the new carpet. If I left before three years he would pay me for the carpet but if I stayed longer then three years the carpet was his for free. I said OK; in the end he got a cheap carpet. I moved my own Fridge and stove in from the VON House, as they looked better.

 

 A short time later one of the VON office workers took the custodian work over. I was finished working for the VON and I was rather sad to see this come to an end. 

    Bill and Jean and Arnold and Pearl and Laurine and her daughter Karen (my niece) came to help me move next door. My Friend John McMahon and Nevol and a few others helped form a chain from my apartment at the VON down the stairs across the lawn and to my apartment next door. As fast as Laurine, Karen and I could pick things up they disappeared down the stairway on the way next door.

I never dreamed I had so much stuff. 19 years in one place is far too long.   

    I will always think of the VON kindly. I love that old house, and the apartment that I had there. The job I had there helped me greatly to set up a savings plan that worked for me, at a time when interest rates and Mutual stocks made you good money. Now many years later I often go out of my way to drive by and look.   

  I still remember my first night after moving into Mr. Buchanan’s apartment building. It was the first time I ever experienced a panic attack. I had felt very secure at the VON building and for some reason I had the idea this was not a good move. Have you ever heard the expression used? 

    “He is a great guy for a friend, but I would not want to work for him.”  

Chapter 7

The Berkeley Apartment Bldg
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350 Dufferin  Ave. London 
  The first few weeks I had trouble sleeping, I was working all sorts of hours, trying to please everyone and then I also had to unpack my things to get settled in. The strange thing was it seemed, as if Mr. Buchanan was now a very different person. When he saw me from afar he didn’t know me, and many times he would turn and walk away instead of towards me. Suddenly our relationship had cooled. It donned on me now that he was my boss and he was no longer my friend. I knew there were people like that out there but this was actually my first encounter. 
 
    However I was sure it would pass as I was bound to please. I set up a working schedule so I would be sure to get everything done. I was to vacuum the three flights of halls floors and staircases twice a week, Wednesday and Saturday nights. This worked well for me, as I would put my laundry in the coin operated washer and dryer in the laundry room while I vacuumed. When I finished the vacuuming, I walked up and down the halls with a bottle of spray cleaner looking for finger marks or marks of any kind on the walls, door and glass. The front and rear entryways were to be cleaned every night. The garbage barrel in the furnace room under the garbage chute was to be emptied every night and carried outside. When the snow came the sidewalk was shovelled across the front and up to the front steps. I felt nothing was left undone. Yet I could not shake the feeling something was wrong. For one thing I was no longer invited to the Buchanans for coffee anymore, and if bi-chance we met in the halls we never had a comfortable conversation like we had before.
     Often my friend John walked home with me from the Y to chat and stayed for coffee before going home. It was on such a night I first went straight to the furnace room so I could put the garbage outside before going up to my apartment. Mr. Buchanan suddenly appeared in the furnace room doorway and said,
    “Where have you been?”
    “To the Y”
    “What are you going to do tonight?”  
    “Well just empty the garbage barrel and put the garbage out”
    “That’s all you’re going to do,” he asked?
To which I said, “What do you want me to do? Tell me and I will do it.”  
    “I just wanted to know what you are going to do tonight, that is all” 
I said, “Look, your hall carpets are clean, the entrance ways are clean, there are no marks on your walls and the snow is all cleared away, now tell me what it is you want me to do and I will do it?” He spread his hands out at his sides and walked away, as he didn’t really have an answer. Right then I made a mistake that I regretted later. I told him I could tell for some reason he was not happy, and when he was not happy I was not happy either. I would stay until spring and then I will go if that was what he wanted. Little did I know, I had handed him exactly what he had wanted, a way out of his deal with me.
    

    Carol and Nell Millar had moved into a two-bed room apartment on the second floor on the east side just inside the door. One night quite by chance I walked home from the YMCA with him. He told me he had worked at custodian work with Clark (Mr. Buchanan) at the Catholic Central High School and that he had just retired.  Mr. Buchanan had just hired him to do the custodian work at the apt. Bldg. He was to start the first of March. I was of course a bit shocked as this was news to me. I had all but forgotten about that conversation with Mr. Buchanan.
    Carol had just moved in a few days ago and we had not met until just now. He didn’t know I was the present custodian just yet. So I asked him how much money he got for doing a job like that. He said he was to get a free two-bed room apt. in exchange for looking after the property. So now I knew what had been bothering Mr. Buchanan all along, In order to get me to work for him he offered me the same deal I was getting at the VON which was a free apartment and $150.00 a month. Then later he found out his old friend whom he had worked with was soon retiring and would do the work for less money than he had offered me. Being the true Scotchman he was, this wore heavily on him and bothered him night and day, until I had handed him a way out. This was a chance for him to break his deal with me. If I would leave in the spring, he would save over one hundred dollars a month.   
  One night about the end of December 1989 Mr. Buchanan came to my door to say,
    “You said you would stay till spring and then leave, so I will set the date for the first of March and then you will be done here.” I was expecting it so I was not at all surprised. He told me if I wanted to stay on, I could rent the apartment from him.
    As I knew most of the tenants by now, I decided to stay on, as there is no fun in moving if you don’t have to. Besides who would help all these little old ladies put in their air conditioners and take them out, or hang venetians and blinds and fix their taps, if I left them. I also painted and hung wallpaper, I could never say no.
    I loved and respected this area of London, the huge beautiful old homes, the tall maple trees and the city centre skyline always present as a backdrop in the south and west growing ever taller each year. After living all these years in this area it seemed home to me. There was only one thing that bothered me here and that was the air quality. Every morning and evening thousands of cars spewed out carbon dioxide into the air coming and going and sitting at stoplights. On quiet nights it lingered long below the great forest of trees leaving us gasping for air.  
     This older part of the London city with its tall trees and historic homes is known as “Woodfield.” The Woodfield Area has a very active committee of local residents set up to protect its historic homes trees and property.  Before making any changes to your property, house or driveway you have to get it past this committee and then city hall. That is not always easy. You cannot just buy an old house and turn it into apartments or blacktop your lawn to extend your parking. 

    City hall and this committee work together to preserve the area and that is good. I loved to go for long walks late after dark past these old estates, some dark and spooky and others flooded with the warmth of light from within. In the daytime you see and admire only the outside, but at night you see a different dimension and you are more aware this is not just a house but also a special heritage home showing all its warmth and loving care. Passing by you will glimpse coloured windowpanes and old staircases and wonderful old chandeliers. Attic lights on the third floor show beams and sloping ceilings, all this rich in yesterday’s culture and beauty safely protected for us now and hopefully well into the future. 

    With the help of the Woodfield committee and city hall it will be there for a long, long time.    
A TV Caption Machine
    It was while living in this area during the 1980’s that the Canadian Hearing Society and Rogers Cable made TV Caption Machines available to the deaf and hard of hearing. No other one thing made my Silent World more enjoyable. then TV caption.
     How many times have you heard a person say they stayed home and watched TV?  They were lucky as they also heard it. I watched TV for many years and never heard it and I found it almost impossible to lip-read TV. It’s sort of like trying to read writing by looking in a mirror. It appears to be backwards.  The captions machines were a wonderful gift to the deaf, and a gift they actually were. To get one you had to go to your family doctor and get a letter to give to the Canadian Hearing Society telling them you were legally deaf. Then you became a member of the CHS (Canadian Hearing Society) and they issued you a form to take to Rogers Cable where you could pick up your TV caption machine free of charge. Not only that, if you had any problem with them you just returned them to Rogers where they would exchange it for another, free. I still have and use my caption machine on my RCA TV that I bought in the fall of 1989.
     At that time RCA did not have the caption in their TV. I found out later a few other models did. It is only since the 1990’s that most TV came with close caption within the set. While all late model TV today have the caption within them sadly very few people know how to turn it on. When I go to visit people, very few think of turning it on for me. If you ask them to turn it on they spend the whole evening trying to turn on the caption and the evening is spoiled for everyone.
At 92 My Dad’s Health Was Failing
     During this time my dad’s health was failing fast. Life in a wheel chair was very much different from what he was use to. I found myself visiting him each weekend, as I knew our time together was not going to be too long now. For the first time in our lives we looked forward to seeing each other as father and son. My dad talked to me, and told me many things he would never have spoken of years ago. His greatest wish was that he could live his life all over again, for as he said, 
   “Jack, things would be so much different between us if I could do it over again.”
I knew then that I loved him, and he loved me. It is sad that sometimes life takes us on such a long journey before we find ourselves, and what we were looking for. Those last few months we shared together healed a lifetime of misunderstanding.
    By Christmas dad was just a shadow of the man he use to be. His last thoughts were of his family, so he had us all together in a place that use to be the old Plaza Theatre on Main Street in Mitchell for a Christmas dinner on him. He himself was not able to be there. This would be our first Christmas without our mom and dad. This was in itself sad. On Jan. 4th.1990 a little over a week later dad passed away. 
    Dad’s funeral service was held at The Lockhart Funeral Home in Mitchell. On the evening of visitation I stood for hours with my sisters and family greeting the hundreds of people who came to pay their respects. They came in a never-ending line and I found it hard to believe that my dad’s life had touched all these people. 
    It was sad that it took my dad and me a lifetime to find each other, but as I said away back in the beginning of this story, it seemed as if dad was able to talk to everyone but his son. He had made no attempt to talk to me, or be close to me. I always had the feeling that perhaps he never really wanted a son, until late in his life. Perhaps I could share the blame, as I know I had too many personal problems. I guess we will never know, “ What might have been,” as we do not get that second chance.

       I remember my sister Jean saying to me that night after the funeral,
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My Dad and Mom and My Grave Stone In Mitchell

  “ Now that both dad and mom have both passed away we don’t want you going back to London and not coming up to Mitchell to visit us anymore.” I appreciated that very much, but to this day it just seems that because I had always done the driving to Mitchell to visit dad and mom they don’t feel they need to drive to London to visit me. So we don’t see each other near as much. 

     Soon it was March the 1st. and I had to give up my custodian work at the Apt. Bldg.  I found myself for the first time in years with only one income, and frankly it worried me.    
    There is little profit in running a one chair Barber Shop because of all the expenses. One has to pay not only the rent for the shop but also the shared cost of the plaza. Then there is insurance, heat and hydro and both property and business tax. Then I must have money for rent for my apartment and the utilities there.
     For a couple of years I had to manage everything very close. Then at income tax time one spring I happened to have a chat with a very nice older lady at the income tax office downtown. She had some very good advice for me; she encouraged me to start taking my Canada Pension out a year early. She showed me the figures on what would happen and while it made only a small difference in what I would receive monthly for the rest of my life, it would solve my financial difficulties right now. Then too, the bonus was just because you received it did not mean you had to spend it. At that time you could put money into your RRSP up until your 71st. birthday so I rolled half of this money back into my RRSP. This gave me a better return on the money than I would have got inside my CPP.
Carol Quits As Custodian
    Mr. Buchanan lost Carol as his custodian within six months. It seemed they could not work together. So he hired another younger tenant who lived on the first floor. This did not seem to please him either so one night he came knocking at my door and after a few minutes of difficult conversation he asked me a question which I did not really understand and I have pondered it ever since. He asked me.
    “How much time do you really have?”
 I said. “What do you mean?”
 He said, “To look after a place like this. How much time would you have?”
 I pondered this as I was not at all sure just what he was getting to, so I remember saying,
    “Well experience has told me we all have the same amount of time, and we all have to put first things first and then make the most of the time that we have left. With me the Barber Shop comes first and then what ever else works in after that.”
He did not like the answer, and as he turned to go I could make out him saying, 
    “I’m talking about this place and that is not good enough. This place has to come first.” again he turned to leave.

 I said,  “I don’t want the job because I cannot please you.”
    “Yes you can, but you have to put this place first.”
    “As long as I have the Barber Shop it will always come first.” He was not happy. 
    A few days later Mrs. Brown who lived across the hall stopped me and said.
    “What ever did you say to Mr. Buchanan to make him so angry at you?”
 I said, “I don’t know, what did he say to you.”
 She said, “ He is going to have to sell this place now and it was all because of that damn Jack Cooke.” I told her about the conversation I had with him, and that he wanted me to take the custodian work back on. She thought it was actually more than that and that it might have been that he wanted me to take the property over from him somehow. So that was why he has said the property had to come first. It was left like that and Mr.Buchanan never mentioned it to me again. 
     Selling the apartment building was not an easy task, as like so many other older buildings it had got caught in the government rent control trap. That is when rent controls were put into effect. Mr. Buchanan’s rent was modest and locked in and ever after that he could only raise the rent by the guideline set by the government each year. Well-kept lawns and great flowerbeds and a clean well-maintained building did not count. Your rent could only go up perhaps 1 to 3 percent a year. At that time the rent there was about $300.00 a month so it would go up three to nine dollars a month. It would take years to get the rent up to $500.00 a month. 
    Thus people interested in buying an apartment building with little money down had to buy it cheap in order to make it pay for itself from this low rent. However there are people out there who know how to work the field and turn a profit. 

Stranger The Fiction

Or How the Government Gives Money To The Rich  
    I won’t use any names here but after a time the building was sold to a foreign family of brothers and uncles who were into Real Estate. This is what happened. 
    An older Uncle bought the place from Mr. Buchanan for a very modest price. Within a short time he resold it to his nephew for fifty thousand more then he paid for it. Now I don’t know but I doubt very much that this fifty thousand ever changed hands. It was just a way to increase the market value of the property on paper to get a loan later. He then approached City Hall for a free $100,000 government grant to make improvements on this as a an older city apt. building. 

    The city asked that he put up one third of this money or $50,000 and then he would get this $100,000.00 forgivable government grant. He went to the bank and extended his mortgage by $50, 000.00 and used this money to obtain the loan at city hall. Then when the work on the building was finished he would apply to the rent control board for a larger rent increase explaining that he has just made $150,000.00 worth of improvements to the building. They will allow him to jack the rent away up beyond the government set rate for the year. Yes it stinks to the far heavens that our government would promote this, as he was actually using our tax money to improve this building. Then the kicker is the rent control board allows him to raise his rent Its like asking us to pay back his $50,000.00 in higher rent. 
    In this case the owner lived in the building and spent most of his own money, the $50,000.00 in his own apartment. He tore out the kitchen and the bathroom and replaced it all new - far beyond what the rest of us had. Inside his entrance door was a new marble-like tile floor. He raised his dining area floor and even put in a great round post for décor. He put in a new chandelier and all new lights then carpeted the whole apartment, and then added new doors with new hardware and all new moulding and baseboard. Its easy to see where most of  his $50,000 went.
 
    You might ask how do I know all this? Well when he raised our rent we were allowed to go to the rent control office here in London and go over all his business and make copies. It is all there for us to see, while we might object it was all legal. 
    Mr. and Mrs. Buchanan moved out before the new owner took over. They moved into a beautiful new high- rise not too far away and life went on for us all.
 
    That winter the new owner put two huge steel bins on the front lawn and started the improvements. First they replaced the windows one apartment at a time. Never again were they going to have to put storm windows on in the fall and take them off in the spring, and never again were the tenants going to get their windows cleaned for free twice a year. Next they replaced the rough plaster in the halls and added moulding. For years the plaster had been popping off in the humidity of the summer. New chandeliers were hung in the entranceways front and back. Most of this work was what one would call exterior work. What the tenants got was a very small cheap vanity and basin with taps for the bathroom, and new cheap melamine doors but good hardware on the kitchen cupboards. Therein lies my story.
 
    If you remember away back I told you when I moved in to this apartment I had replaced the kitchen cupboard hardware, with Amerock handles and hinges. I had asked that they let me know when they would be ready to do my place so that I could have the hardware off before they arrived. I came home from work one night to find my new doors hung with Amerock hardware exactly the same as what I already had. I asked them about this and where were my handles and hinges. They said they had no time to take off the old hardware and that my doors and hardware were in the bottom of the bin out in front. That weekend I went to the bin and I could not see my doors, I threw everything out piece by piece onto the lawn and as they had said there were my doors on the very bottom. 

    But not one door or drawer had any hardware on them. So I left my doors out and threw everything else back in. On the Monday morning I confronted them about their dishonesty. I gave them a box to put the new hardware in. Begrudgingly they did. The moral of the story is “Don’t mess with Jack Cooke.”
 
Jack Takes On A Garden

    Spring came, trees leafed out, the grass turned green, the spring flowers bloomed and the weeds grew high. It was on such a morning as I went to my car to leave for work I saw my neighbour on the rear of his lot next door behind the old VON Bldg. With his hands on his hips he was surveying a weed and grassy area that adjoined the two lots. For years it had been overgrown with tall grass and weeds. I stopped to chat with him. He told me he just had to do something about this plot of weeds and was considering covering it over with black top. It was an area the width of the lot and perhaps sixteen foot deep. I told him that I knew what I would do with it if I were in his place. He asked me what that would be?

     I said, “Give it to me and let me plant a garden.” 

    He said, “ Do you have a green thumb?”
    “I have the greenest thumb in all London,” I confessed.
    “OK you got yourself a garden,” he said.
 
    Within a day or two my customer and long time friend John Futcher from south of town came in for a haircut. I mentioned to him about my new garden enterprise. He offered me his garden roto-tiller to work it up. A day or so later he delivered it to the apartment building. The ground worked up great as it was good garden soil.
 

Getting Taken
    The landlord saw the great way the soil had worked up on this garden patch and his crafty mind began to churn. He had removed the huge steel bins from the front lawn leaving behind a deep depression and an area of dead grass where the bins had sat. The lawn was also deep in ruts where trucks had parked over the winter while they were doing the repairs. The lawn was sorely in need. He approached me to see if I would use this roto-tiller on his lawn. I should have known better than to get involved with this man, but the truth was I lived there and I wanted the place to look nice and all my life I have loved to work with lawns and flowerbeds.
     So I called John and asked him if I could do this work with his tiller. He said yes it would be OK. I found out working an old lawn down proved to be a real chore, but after working it over many times, in the end it turned out well. 
    The landlord came to me now and asked if I would put the lawn in for him and get it started, as he had no idea how to go about it. I really didn’t want to get too involved in this with him, but I said that on the weekend I would help him. He said OK to that. When the weekend came he told me he had to go out of town on business and asked if I would proceed and get whatever I needed for the lawn and he would pay me. I told him if he would let me have water for my garden and pay me for my labour and whatever I needed I would proceed and do it myself. He agreed to this. Where I came from when you make a deal you keep your word. 
    I went to the Royal Purple Store on the bottom end of King Street and got the grass seed and fertilizer. They loaned me an over the shoulder hand turned grass seed spreader. I also got the loan of a good lawn roller from a neighbour and I owned my own fertilizer spreader. I worked very hard all day raking, picking up a lot of rock, then fertilizing and sewing the grass seed. The last thing I did was to roll it down well and soak it with water. Then I went to a lumber place and bought some wood stakes and drove them in the lawn and put my own nylon rope all around it to keep people from walking on it. In a few days the grass sprung up with wild abandon, and the ground turned green. Everyone watched it grow in amazement and wonder. I watched over it like a mother hen with baby chicks and  I watered it each night when I got home from work.
    I had saved the bills from Royal Purple and the lumberyard for the stakes and I added to it my labour, a modest amount of time at the government rate of about six to seven dollars an hour. I think the total bill was about $140.00 some dollars. 
     I knocked on his door a number of times and no one would answer even though his car was on the lot and I knew he was at home. After a few weeks I sent him a registered letter along with the bills. A number of days later the post office sent me a message that there was a letter there for me to pick up. It was my own registered letter, which I had mailed the landlord. It had come back to me. The post office told me that no one has to pick up a registered letter, and people that are dishonest know this so never do.
    The weather in June was very hot and by now the grass was ready to be cut. I did not have my own lawn mower anymore and I was not the custodian here anyway.
I told the guy that was the custodian that he would have to take this over and look after it as I was done with it. He cut it off all too short for a new lawn and then never watered it so the grass started to die. As much as I hated to see all my good work wasted I just did not want to do anything more for this man as I still was not paid for the grass seed, fertilizer or for my labour.  
    I had one more option, which I knew was not quite legal, but heck when you are dealing with a dishonest person who cares as long as it works. I deducted the money he owed me from my monthly rent. This got his attention; he had his custodian serve me with an eviction notice. I had 60 or 90 days to pay up or they would take me to court and evict me. I laughed at his custodian and told him to tell the landlord I would love to talk to him in court in front of a judge as I am an honest Canadian and he is a rogue a scoundrel and a thief. 

    However in spite of knowing this I lived with the anxiety for the 60 or 90 days wondering what might happen. Of course nothing ever came of it, as he knew very well he would not fare well in a Canadian court of law because of his dishonesty. .
     My Garden was a great success. I had planted all the basic things my mom would have had in her garden, red and green leaf lettuce, white and red radishes, carrots and green and yellow beans. There were sweet corn and tomato plants and even a cucumber patch. Of course the weeds vetoed hard for space in my garden too, but as I was practically born with a hoe in my hand the poor things really never had a chance. The first problem that drew my attention was some bicycle tire marks that crossed the garden every day. I realized that for years this lot and the VON lot were used as a short cut for kids going up town and back. I decided to make a 16-inch wide pathway across the garden with two sixteen-foot long 2X4 imbedded in the soil one on each side. The kids seem to respect this idea stayed on the path and there was no further problem with bicycle or foot traffic.
    My thought turned to my dear old Mrs. Bulls and her garden in Alberta, and how she liked to plant a few rows of annual flowers in her garden. So I planted a row of giant Zinnias all around the outer edge of my garden and then down each side of the garden path that I had made for the bikes. Everything was producing and blooming and of course I was in seventh heaven.
    Soon I had more garden products then I could possibly eat and I told a few tenants and an elderly neighbour to help themselves, but just take what they needed for the day and there would be lots for everyone. 
   I had been watering the garden from the tap on the wall to the rear of the apartment building; this was in the agreement I had made with the landlord when I put his grass in for him. A few nights after I had been served with the eviction I found that there was no water at the tap. It had been turned off from the inside. I asked the custodian to turn it on and explained my agreement with the landlord.     He said he had been told to turn it off and I could not have any more water. The garden soon began to dry up and things began to die. The tenants in the building of course were aware what had happened but my old friend and neighbour on the street behind did not. So he came to me and asked why I had lost interest in my beautiful garden. I told him what had happened. He said he would solve the problem. He ran a garden hose from his place through a rear window of his garage into my garden. That ended my water problem. I imagine when the landlord saw this he had a fit as he felt he could hurt me by cutting off the water. 
     Retiring to the garden in the evening after work with a hoe and a basket can be very relaxing to those that love the earth and gardening. There was a cement slab in the northwest corner of my garden where a small tool shed had once been. A few times I would take my folding down lawn chair out there and lie in the sun.     One Sunday I was lying there with my thought a few thousand miles away, when through my almost closed eyes I saw a movement, I lay still but opened my eyes slowly. Down the garden path walked the biggest daddy coon I ever saw in my life. He was standing walking towards me on his hind legs with his front leg across his chest; much like an arm and it was full of my tomatoes. I set up and we each stared at each other, and I could read his expression. He wanted to know just what the heck I was doing, lying there in the middle of his garden. Begrudgingly he backed off carrying his load of green tomatoes into the treed lot to the east of the VON. I never did get many tomatoes as he took them before they ever ripened. 
Mandy My Manx Cat
    About this time my friend Olga had been to the humane society and brought home a beautiful big calico cat. Mr. Buchanan would not have a cat in his building but now that he no longer was the owner I wondered if I should have one for company. I was sure it would be cheaper than a wife. So one day I decided to drop in at the Clark Road Humane Society and see what they had. When I entered the area where the cats were that were available, there was a Manx kitten in the first cage inside the door. Manx cats have no tail and usually look a bit like a lynx and are a bit of a novelty. I took it out of the cage for a minute and petted it. Then I went on down the row to look further. Every time I look back that little Manx kitten had its paws out through the cage and was mewing pitifully for me to come back, I almost thought I could hear him say,
    “Take me, take me, I will be a good kitty.” The lady attendant said,

    “ I think that cat wants to go home with you.” So that was what happened. I owned a cat. No! No!  No one owns a cat, a cat takes your place over and lets you stay on and serve it. It was Mrs. Buchanan who thought of calling it Mandy since it was a Manx cat. At first I wondered if it had got crossed with a rabbit as it would run and then sit upright as rabbits do. They are a novelty but not as graceful as most other cats. Mandy was a good cat and I had her for many years. Like most Manx cats though she was a one-person cat and would not let anyone but me touch her; if they tried she slashed out viciously.

Mr Buchanan Comes Around
     Mr. Buchanan had not been coming out to the shop for his usual hair cut for some time, so I was both surprised and pleased when he turned up there one day. Of course at first we both were a bit uncomfortable. Then as if he recaptured his voice he asked me if I could let bygones be bygones and be friends again. I assured him that it would please me very much as I had missed them too. 
    He said, “Well Vera (his wife) asked if you would drop over for coffee sometime soon. We both really missed your visits?” So I promised I would be over very soon. That made my day as I had cared a lot for these two people as for many years they had been a very important part of my life. This whole thing had been eating away at me. It seems I am a person that needs to have things right between me and those I love or care for.
 
    Visiting the Buchanans was once again a pleasure; they oozed with hospitality and kindness. Their new place was much larger then their old apt. on Dufferin Ave It was more like a condo or a house, but truly they needed new, larger furniture to do the place justice. They had a lot of glass windows in their living room facing the northeast, the centre glass being sliding doors out onto a huge balcony. The lower half of the balcony itself was fronted with Plexiglas in an aluminium frame. This made it so you were able to see the city from within the living room; the view however to the northeast was not great. 
    There were several high-rise towers on this corner of Colborne and York Street and it seems a southwest wind laden with dust and dirt funnelled in between. Thus this glass needed to be cleaned every few weeks. They were already tired of cleaning it. Mrs. Buchanan asked me if I wanted the job of cleaning the balcony and the glass for them periodically as it had to be done and she might as well pay me if I wanted the job. Of course as I was always trying to make an honest buck I said yes. So for a couple or more years I looked after this for them. They also had me go to the market and buy flowers for their balcony flower boxes and pots. I enjoyed doing it as they looked after the plants diligently but gave me all the credit. Every time I went over they took me out to the balcony and proudly showed off their flowers, then happily gave me all the credit. 
 
    Soon I could see they were not very happy here, as without his Apt. Building and something to do and to care for Mr. Buchanan was bored to death. One night they both confessed this to me and I suggested that maybe they just needed a change and should go south for the winter. They both scoffed at that idea. They did not want to go south. 
   Then I said, “Maybe you just need new surroundings, something that would make a change in your everyday life.”

    They said, “What do you mean?” I looked over at their small TV set that had been put inside an old stereo set. This might be ok if you could not afford anything better so I said,       “ Well for one thing you might enjoy a large new TV set as that one is very old and very small.”
    “But what would we do with the stereo set then?” he said.
    “Well either sell it or give it to Sally Ann,” 
    “But that wall would look empty without the stereo sitting there.” he said.
    “Then why not buy a nice new wall unit for that wall and put the TV in it?” 
They could not see any sense in this. It was sad to see that while they had no real problems and were sitting on a small fortune they were not happy with their retired life.
    One night when I arrived to visit, Mrs. Buchanan came waltzing to the door in a happy mood; I could see something great had happened. So I said to her,
    “Now what happened to make you so happy tonight?”
She said, “Well you would be happy too, if you had what I have.”
    “Pray tell me what is that?” I said.
    “How many Millionaires do you know?”
    “Actually just a couple,” I confessed.
    “Well now you know a couple more,” she said and continued, “We just sold the 36 unit apartment building in Goderich and dad (she often referred to Mr. Buchanan as dad) put half the money into my bank account for income tax purposes. Now we both have over a million and a half dollars in our bank accounts.”
    Of course in a way I always knew that they were well off, but in real estate. I had never given it much thought, as they did not act at all like people that had a lot of money. So now I wondered if they would be happy and perhaps spend a little money on themselves. I continued to visit with them and everything seemed to be going ok.
Mr Buchanan Has a Stroke

Then one day I got word that Mr. Buchanan had a stroke and was taken to the old Victoria Hospital by ambulance. For a number of weeks we were very concerned about him. He seemed to need visits from those he was close to. His wife Vera had never driven a car so her sister Mrs. McDonald from Glencoe south of London came into the city and stayed with Vera for a few weeks. Together they drove up to the hospital every day. I started the routine of visiting every Wednesday evening on the way home from work and then again on Sunday afternoons. After a time Mrs. McDonald went home and Vera took a taxi to the hospital everyday. For some reason she complained to Mr. Buchanan she was not feeling well. Then the next day a Wednesday she called to say she could not make the trip as she had a very bad stomach pain. I went as usual to visit on the way home and Mr. Buchanan asked me if I would go to the apartment and check on Vera.
Mrs Buchanan Passes Away
    She answered the intercom and let me in. When she met me at their apt. door I could tell she was in a lot of pain and I wanted her to call a doctor or let me take her to the hospital. She said she thought it was just from over exertion and anxiety and all the extra things she had to do since Mr. Buchanan had this stroke. She promised me she would call the Dr. in the morning if it were not any better.
    That night the pain got so severe that she called an ambulance. She died on the way to the hospital. They found that she had a ruptured bowel and the poison went through her system and killed her. Three days later a funeral service was held for her in London. With great difficulty Mr. Buchanan managed to get there and sat in a wheel chair looking very much at loss and alone. 
   Vera was buried in her old home community in a very old cemetery just outside the village of Whitechurch next to her first husband. I felt very sorry for Mr. Buchanan. His life now was going to be in for a great change. 
    It didn’t seem as if anyone from his side of the family would step forward to assist him when he needed it the most. His side of the family all lived up in the Kincardine area on Lake Huron north of Goderich. At no time did they ever offer to help him out around his apartment building. They left him on his own.  It was Mrs. Mc Donald, Vera’s sister and her family who packed up Buchanan’s thing and closed down his apartment in London.  They even took his car out to Glencoe and put a for-sale sign on it and managed to sell it. When he was finally able to leave the hospital Vera’s sister Mrs. McDonald got him into a private room in a nice new home in the small town of Wardsville south of London. It was only a short distance from Glencoe where she and her family lived. He never recovered from his stroke so he spent the rest of his life in the wheel chair. 
 
    After a few weeks in Wardsville Mr. Buchanan called a friend in the old Apt. Building and asked if she would deliver a message to me. He wondered if I would drive down to the Wardsville and cut his hair. Well I didn’t mind really, not at all, as it was time I visited him anyway. But it was a long drive from my place to drive for a haircut, about 40 miles or more. So I packed my tools on a Sunday and drove down. It was a pleasant drive and a good excuse to get out in the country. When I arrived I found him and Mrs. McDonald deep in conversation. I felt a bit as if I were intruding on them, but I am sure he had a lot of things on his mind, between settling up Vera’s estate and managing his own business, he was not longer mobile except from a wheel chair.
    Mrs. McDonald left us to ourselves and I finally got around to cutting his hair. When it was done he thanked me and gave me a twenty-dollar bill. At first I said no as I didn’t want to take his money. But he told me that since his stroke he realized more then ever, he was never going to be able to spend all of his money. So as it cost me money to drive down to Wardsville he thought I should take it. I realized he was right but I have this odd feeling about cutting family or friend’s hair outside the shop. I feel better if I don’t take money. I did want to stay in contact with him, partly because I valued him as an old friend and partly because I knew he needed me. I was now very conscious that he was a wealthy man with millions of dollars. I felt guilty to even think about it, but perhaps, perhaps, as a close friend who had always been there for him he just might leave me a little bit of it. Let me say $25,000 or $50,000 from his millions, I am sure no one would miss it, yet it would be a lot of money to a person like me. These kinds of thoughts bothered me as I thought it was wrong for me to even think like that.

 

     I remember talking this over with my sister Jean once and Jean said,
    “Jack you just do what you feel is right, stick by him if he needs you, then in the end if he does leave you something you will feel good about it, as in a way you earned it, and if he doesn’t leave you anything, then you will at least have a clear conscious because you stuck by him as a true friend when he needed you and you did your duty to him.”
     For a couple of years I drove down every two or three weeks to see him and he was always ready for a visit. I was aware he felt out of his own territory in Wardsville and I was his link to his London home and his past. I continued to cut his hair and he would pay me the $20.00.
My Aunt Maude
    A few weeks before Christmas 1999, Jean and Bill in Mitchell, had Arnold and Pearl, Oliver and Laurine and myself come for a Christmas dinner in mid December. As the families started to grow up marry and have children we started to do this so we could have a quiet time together. Someone at the table mentioned that my Aunt Maude (my dad’s youngest sister) would celebrate her 90th birthday June 4th, 1992 so we should all fly down to California to celebrate. 

My sister Jean said, “Well if you don’t plan ahead to do things nothing ever comes of it.” Right then we all said we would give it serious thought and make plans to go.
    Aunt Maude was born on the old farm on the Mitchell Road on June 4th. , 1902. She was a one and only. I have never met anyone quite like her. She wore her heart on her sleeve, and she loved us all equally. We knew that without a doubt. Her visits to the farm were the highlight of the year, she walked with us, she talked to us and above all showed us love, and life on the old farm was never more joyful. then it was at the time of her visit. We waited on her visits with great anticipation.   

    When I was a kid up on the farm, I remember looking out the highest south side window watching for a cloud of dust away down the long gravel Mitchell Road.  Sometimes my sisters and I watched for what seemed like hours, but we knew that sooner or later out of a cloud of dust would come a little green 1935 Ford car with my Uncle Guy and Aunt Maude to spend a week’s holiday with us. There are no words to describe our happiness. 

    For a whole week my sisters and I would sit on her lap, cling to her and follow her everywhere. As she said years later we literally loved her to death, but as you and I know, one can never get too much of a good thing.

    Then in turn, we would go to Detroit to spend a whole weekend. At night her living room floor was wall-to-wall kids. Aunt Maude was a great cook and if you have never tasted her lemon meringue or apple pies then you have never lived.

    All during those hard times of the thirties she would arrived at the old farm with the car loaded with box after box of clothing she managed to come by. As she had two fast growing sons I got all their best clothes as they outgrew them. There was everything from shoes, pants shirts and jackets. I was a well-dressed lucky boy.

    I remember once when we visited her in the 1940’s she gave her daughter-in- law Wanda some money to take us all to an amusement park to go on rides. Up until then about the only thing I had ever had a ride on was a wheelbarrow. Years later when I had some American money saved from the shop I happened to think of what she had done for us that day. I wrote her a letter reminding her and I enclosed the American money telling her to go out and have some fun on me.

    She always insists that I was the letter writer in the family so she expected letters regular and on time. At times when I got lazy or neglectful she was not afraid to lay down the law with a pep talk. For some reason my sisters were exempted; it was my duty, one that I kept up until she passed away. No one knew me better then my Aunt Maude, I shared all my thoughts, my dreams, my joys and sorrows and even my sins with her, yet she still loved me, of that I was very sure.

    Uncle Guy and Aunt Maude retired to California to be close to their daughter Shirlyan and Dan Hurt and family. Even in her eighties and on into her nineties she flew home to Detroit where I would pick her up and bring her north to visit the family. I guess what I remember most about her was that she was never afraid to show her love for you and to say, “I love you,” or to praise God for all her blessing every day. We will always remember her . Everyone should have an Aunt Maude.

The California Holiday Trip
       

Late in May 1992 we started to check on the cost of flights to California. We had decided not to travel all together as a “Just In Case” for family security. I got my ticket, and then I had a phone call from sister Pearl. When she went to buy their ticket Arnold backed out. We all knew he had never been on a plane and for some reason had a great fear of travelling on a plane. So Pearl wanted to know if she could go with me.

I said,  “Yes of course you can.” So I took my ticket back to the London airport and exchanged it for a ticket with two side-by-side seats.
    A few days later we got word that aunt Maude’s daughter Shirlyan had decided the party should be held in Detroit so the family there would not have to fly to California. 
It was too late for Pearl and me, because we could not take our tickets back. As the party in Detroit was going to be later in the month, Pearl and I decided we should go anyway and see California and then celebrate this 90th birthday on June the 4th with Aunt Maude. 
    I had not told Pearl before we left that when I bought our flight tickets I had also arranged for a three day’s stay at the Desert Inn in Anaheim, directly across from the main entrance to Disneyland so we could go there. This was a gift from me to her.
    We flew from London to Toronto and from Toronto to Los Angeles. We picked up our luggage then we found a car rental service, which took us in a small bus to a car rental lot some distance from the airport. We rented a very nice blue four door 92 Pontiac Grand Prix. It proved a great car for us to travel in, and we really liked it. 

    I remember getting in behind the wheel on the car lot; I seemed to freeze, or panic, as I had no sense of direction. I looked at the map, but I didn’t know which way was north or south, east or west. Pearl on the other hand didn’t seem to understand what my problem was, and she looked at me with frustration and said,
    “Well let’s go, we wont get anywhere just sitting here.” I could not explain to her my problem very easily, as here we were two deaf people in a Silent World travelling together pen in hand, ha ha!
    Regardless, and against my every feeling, I started to drive across the lot, the wrong way. We soon found out there was just one-way off this lot. On all four sides there were entrances, which had these huge sloping steal spikes in a steel plate. If you drove over towards them you had four very punctured tires. You could drive in however with the slope without a problem. This was to stop people from stealing their cars. At the one entrance that you could exit I asked the attendant which direction to turn to go to Anaheim and he said to turn left, and then go straight ahead. Once I finally got my direction I had no further problem and it was happy driving.
     We found “The Desert Inn” quite easily and were able to park the car in front of our suite. This in itself was good, as then we didn’t have to carry our baggage very far and we felt we could keep an eye on our car. We unpacked some things and both had a shower and a short rest. It had been a long day for us, but we were happy, tired and hungry. We left in search of a place to eat. Outside our door we admired the huge flowerbeds in bloom and this alone made Pearl and me happy.
    The closest place to eat was “Denny’s” which became out favourite eating-place.
A lady there sort of adopted us when she found we were both deaf and Canadians. Every time we walked in the door she came and escorted us to her section and waited on us as if we were family. That night we were very excited but slept fittingly. The next day we were going to Disneyland. We felt like two kids up on the old farm again.
    After breakfast at Denny’s we arrived at the gates of Disneyland and bought our pass for the day. I don’t suppose anyone is prepared for all that there is to see and do at Disneyland; it is a happy world within itself. Pretty soon all your worries and cares and negative thoughts disappear as you join the throng, the ever-happy jungle of people under the California sun and find delight in a world of make- believe. Pearl is excellent company and more adventurous then I am. Can you imagine diving down a mountain in a Redwood log canoe from a great height into a pond and then wanting to do it again? Pearl did. For me it was a once in a lifetime thing.
     This one particular ride called, “Splash Mountain” will remain with me always. We climbed into the rear of this Red Wood log boat with a Japanese couple and two small children in front of us. We entered into the side of the mountain following a river. Along the bank was dense virgin forest. Then through a clearing we saw a bonfire and Indians dressed, as they were when the first white men came to this country. It was spooky as they moved about the bonfire and everything looked so real. 

     We could almost feel the need to glide by undetected, as we were indeed the intruder here.  We encountered black bears by a stream and beyond the stream a huge buck deer stood alone as if on guard. Farther on was timid looking doe with a small fawn. Wolves were there in packs and the beaver were busy building dams. Every now and then our log boat entered a ramp, which took it up to another level, with a different scene. Log cabins with a few acres of cleared land, a white man and family had arrived looking ill equipped for this vast and dangerous land, into  which he had intruded.
      There was one scene that I must tell you about. When we neared the top of the mountain our log came to a waterfall, and slowly we were swept towards the brink. I was aware of the mist and water spray falling back onto us as we were caught up in the current and drawn ever nearer to the brink and then a plunge. Suddenly we could hear a great boom of a cannon and feel the concussion. A great and wondrous scene was being played out before us, one I can still see clearly even to this day. 

    It was night and the sky above us was the blackest of blue. We could see to great heights and as far as the eye could see the sky was full of brilliant and wondrous stars. Below us there appeared to be a great bay of water lit up because of a great fire. There was a large fort built of logs built into the cliff across the bay. A pirate ship, with full masks was in the centre of the bay firing its cannons upon the fort. The fort was ablaze with fire; reflecting upon the water. There was flame and smoke rising all over the fort. The men were still manning their cannons and bravely firing back on the ship. Cannon balls were constantly landing in the water sending a great amount of water high into the air. 
     It was into this wild scene we went as our log boat was caught up and swept over the falls. We hit the water sending out waves and then glided forth into the line of fire. All around us cannonballs exploded in the water wetting us thoroughly. Those guys in the fort must have been the world’s worst shots or else they thought we were the enemy too. We glided across the bay through all this chaos undetected by the pirates. As we neared the far shore we were swept in and under the burning fort. Huge timbers were aglow with flame and embers and hot looking charcoal. Even the smoke looked and smelled real. Soon we left it all behind and our log climbed to the very top of the mountain. Now I was really in trouble as I could see a little pond far below, and we were going into a free fall and nosedive into that puddle. I would have paid anything for a way out. The log paused at the edge while the nose turned down and the rear end came up. An overhead camera takes your picture just as you go over. I still have that picture. Horrors, it’s a good thing I didn’t have any hair to stand up. We arrived at the bottom intact, and as we got out of the boat, Pearl says, “Lets do it again.”
    We met a nice young lad from New Zealand who was there all alone. Both Pearl and I wore a small Canadian flag. He noticed it so came over to chat with us. He was a university graduate and had been offered a job in California. I think he was just a bit homesick. He tagged along with us for a number of rides. I think he felt closer to us Canadians with our historic British ties than to the Americans.
    We returned to Denny’s for our supper and our friend there met us and took us under her wing. What a wonderful and exciting day. We were both tired out.
    The next morning we were back to Denny’s for breakfast and we asked our great hostess if there was a shopping centre close by. We explained we were on the way to San Juan Capistrano to see the mission. Was there one along the route which we would be taking? She wrote the directions down on our place mat. Following the directions we came to a four way stop with buildings on all corners. The buildings cut off our view around all corners. According to her map we were to turn left here and the plaza was within our view just around the corner but there was nothing in sight. So I turned left again, not wanting to stray too far from the main highway we came in on. There was a wide median here with a strip of grass running down the middle of it. A very well dressed older lady perhaps in her mid to late eighties was crossing the grass coming towards us. White gloves in hand, she knew how to dress and she was what one would call, elegant. 

I stopped and got her attention and she came to the car, 

    I said, “My sister and I are Canadian and I am afraid we are lost.”
She asked us where we wanted to go; I showed her the map and pointed out the plaza. At that moment a car started down the street toward us and she was standing in the traffic lane talking to me.
She said, “Quick open the door and let me in.” so I let her in the back seat.
I was a bit shocked, as there she was what one might call a little old lady and perhaps almost as old as my dear Aunt Maude who was ninety and she would get into a car with perfect strangers.
     She set us straight and I told her how much we appreciated it.

     She said, “ Well I used to live in Sault Ste. Marie Michigan, and we loved you Canadians, so I just had to help you out.” She was not only elegant on the outside she was a real lady on the inside and a real ambassador for the USA.
We drove back to the corner and turned the other way and found the plaza.
    After a short shopping spree we continued on our way to The Mission. Juan Capistrano is a quaint little town located above the shores of the Pacific midway between Los Angeles and San Diego. I had been there once before when I visited my friends Bob and Judy Scott many years before and I wanted Pearl to experience it. Once you visit the Mission you will always remember it. Most people my age remember the old song, “When the Swallows Come Back To San Juan Capistrano.” Visiting this place, seeing its beauty, and feeling its place in the history of America will be a memorable event in your life.
    This mission is called, “The Jewel of California Missions.” The Spanish founded it in 1776 and sent Father Junipero Serra to educate and convert the Indians who lived along the coast. Until he arrived their diet was chiefly fish from the ocean. He established the mission with workshops where the Indians learned how to make furniture and make brick to build with. There were loom rooms and tallow vats and perhaps most important to its founders a church where they were called to worship each day. Spain controlled California until 1821 when Mexico won its independence.
    The disastrous earthquake of 1812 did a lot of damaged to the mission. The church itself was damaged beyond repair, and it is in these walls the swallows found a home. Every year like clock work they return from the south to nest in the walls. People from all over the world go there to witness the event and feel it is a holy event.  “When The Swallows Come Home To San Juan Capistrano”
    We returned to the Desert Inn in Anaheim by following the Pacific Coast Highway that winds north high above the scenic pacific shore. Somewhere along the way it became suppertime and we went into a village store and bought food more fit for a picnic. We had found a dead end street that ran off the highway west. It came to a dead-end high above the pacific shore. A wondrous sandy beach stretched out north and south far below us. Here there was a little circle of gravel with some lawn and a few picnic tables. We watched the sun go down over the Pacific, one of those things you like to share with a friend or loved one. Pearl and I will always remember this. Far to the north a single figure emerged walking towards us. We noted that he was walking to and fro on the beach as if searching for whatever he could find. He passed below us; he had long blonde sun bleached hair, and looked much like a displaced hippy of the sixties. He disappeared to the south leaving us wondering about him. Who was he, where was he going, did he have a home to go to or was he a lost soul, just wandering the beach in California?
    We arrived back to our room at the Desert Inn for our last night. We were both very tired after a big day on the road. In the morning we would be off to visit my dear Aunt Maude in Oxnard where she lived with her daughter, Shirlyan and Dan Hurt, 2013 Spyglas Trail. Our plans were to find a motel close by from where we could visit them. When we went to check out in the morning they told us there was E Mail for us from Shirlyan telling us to come straight to their house and not to take a motel room They wanted us to stay with them. To get to Oxnard we had to bi-pass Los Angeles and Hollywood and Beverly Hills, then along the Santa Monica Mountains to Oxnard. The driving was hectic to say the least and I was relying on Pearl to read the map. It seemed as if every one else knew where they were going but me. I found out that my sister turns the map every time I turn a corner, thus she would have the map on her lap upside down and when I asked her,
    “Do I turn left or right here?” She could not give me a quick answer and by then of course it was too late as I had gone on through or turned the wrong way. However!
     We arrived at Dan and Shirlyan’s place and spent two or three memorable days with them. During the day we had Aunt Maude all to ourselves and we chatted endlessly. It was a wonderful visit and at ninety she had a wonderful mind. She was spry and always cheerful, witty and loved to joke. There will never be another like my Aunt Maude and we loved her dearly. After talking to Dan and Shirlyan we outlined a trip, which we thought we could handle and be back to Dan and Shirlyan’s in time to celebrate Aunt Maude’s Birthday on June the 4th.
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My Cousin Dan & Shirlyan Hurt’s Home in California
Up The Coast and Into the Interior

     Early one morning Pearl and I left on our trip to see more of California. First we drove north up the coast to see the famous old Santa Barbara Mission. The Spanish started the mission there in 1786. The Santa Barbara Mission is beautiful to say the least and is called the Queen of Missions. There were several churches built on this location before these present Mission buildings. The earthquake of 1812 destroyed the third church on this site and this present mission was fifty years in the process of being built from 1820 to 1870.
 It is very much Spanish with its white plaster walls, its many arches and red tile roof, and is surrounded by tall palm trees, green lawns and flowers beds which are full of strange plants, a lot of which are cactus. 
    From Santa Barbara we travelled north again and then inland to the town or city of Solvang. It is a Danish place and the downtown has been renovated over into blocks and blocks of new looking craft shops, stores and shops and eating places of all kinds with a Danish flair and design. We enjoyed several hours of browsing and buying gifts. Late in the afternoon we left the town behind and travelled back towards the coast. Tomorrow we planned to visit the famous Hearst Castle at San Simeon. The evening retreated, and the sun grew low on the Pacific as we arrived in a place just south of our destination called Grover City. It is actually a coastal town but more like a village on which the surrounding mountainous country seems to have encroached. 
 
    A brand new Inn or hotel called Oak Park Resort Hotel was on our left, and we decided this was it. Pearl always took a look at the rooms before she would say yes. I told her in a nice place like this they didn’t keep bed bugs, but in spite of that she still had to take a look. I went in the office and got a key, then drove the car closer to the part of the building our room would be in. We sat in the car for a few minutes discussing the day. Then we got out to go and check on our room. The minute I shut the door I realized I had not taken the key out of the ignition. I think it was because I was holding a set of keys in my hand, keys that belonged to the room we were renting for the night. I didn’t say anything right then to Pearl, but my head was working on the problem of how to open that door. Sadly when you rent a car they only let you have one key and that is fixed so you can’t make yourself a second even if you wanted to. I wondered if they might have a wire clothes hanger in the office. I was well aware it that it is very hard to get into today’s cars unless you call a professional. 
 
    Pearl OK’d the room and we walked back to the car. 

    I said,  “Pearl I have some bad news to tell you, I locked the keys in the car.”
    She said, “Oh Jack you couldn’t do a thing like that?” Of course I assured her I was quite capable of doing things like that. I left her standing there beside the car while I walked back to the office to ask if they had a wire clothes hanger. They searched the Hotel and as it was brand new all they had were plastic ones. However they said they would send someone out in search of one.
    I didn’t like to leave Pearl standing outside alone, as it was late in the evening by now. As I walked towards the car I could see Pearl talking to a young guy maybe in his late teens. As Pearl has three boys of her own she was quite comfortable talking with him. I guess he had noticed her distress and wanted to find out what the problem was and if he could help. When I walked up he said,
    “Mr. I can get into that car for you  It will take me about five minutes.” 
I said, “How will you do it?” 

To which he said,  “I will be right back.”
Off he ran to an old souped up car parked across the lot, its rear end jacked up high on springs or shocks or whatever kids do to cars to get it up there. I remember how upon opening his trunk he had to lift up high to get his toolbox out. Soon he came running back across the lot, tools in hand and without a word he started to take the radio aerial off. I remember feeling a bit alarmed by this, as I didn’t want to take a stripped car back to the rental place.
    He had noticed that one of the rear windows was down just a wee bit. He turned the aerial up side down and then down inside the window, to the door button. It was a kind of door rocker button so when he touched it the door opened. I could not believe our luck.
    I reached for my wallet as I felt I should give him something, but he put his hand up to stop me and said he would not take anything and that he was happy to be able to help us. Then he ran off, back to his car and we were never to see him again. By now a couple other lads were at his car and I could see him going through the motions of what he had done, taking the aerial off and sticking it down into the car. What can one say, except some dad and mother raised a good kid? Another good ambassador for the USA.
    The next morning when we returned the key they were serving free Danish buns and coffee. We obliged them by staying for breakfast, as so far nothing much had been “For Free.” Soon we were again on the road to the Hearst San Simeon Castle.
    One might expect something more at the highway entrance where you arrive at the Hearst property other than a parking lot. Perhaps a good idea would be a Tim Horton’s (Sorry I could not resist that,) but all that’s there is a parking lot where people wait for the mini shuttle bus. There are four tours a day, the first one starting at 8:20 am. Each tour is supposed to take about two hours. We arrived for the second tour of the day perhaps 10:30 AM on a glorious sunny spring morning. One can see a narrow winding black top road going east far into the distance where it disappears in the endless hills. High on the hillside afar off you can see something shining white in the sun against the skyline. This is the castle.
    I doubt if there is anything in North America that compares to what you will see here at the Hearst Castle. It is well known William Randolph Hearst made his fortune in the Newspapers world. Therefore if there was anything out there anywhere he wanted, he had the money to buy it. From all over the world he gathered artefacts of the best for his castle. He bought everything from lumber to marble, furniture, plants and even animals for a zoo. Endless roads were travelled all over the world for his needs for his castle. 
     The castle was built between 1919 and 1947during a time when all of Canada and the United States had little money for the necessities of life, a time when they faced depression and then a war. All of which was news, and news on paper sold. 
I cannot begin to tell you here all of what we saw, and only by seeing it yourself could you understand its outrageous size and its grandeur and beauty beyond belief.
    I remember a dining room larger then some town halls, great carpet like tapestries hanging on the walls between great wooden hand carved arches, twenty-five foot or more ceilings with gigantic size chandeliers, plus tables and chairs of massive size fit for Vikings or kings of yesteryears. There were two great swimming pools; the outside one, which is called Neptune Pool and is 104 ft. long, is made of marble from Vermont. On one end is a temple facade with ancient like Roman columns on either side. The pool holds 345,000 gallons of fresh mountain spring water. The second pool is inside and called a Roman Pool. It is of Olympic size, and is a flat bottom pool ten feet deep. It is surrounded by gold leaf fused with glass tile, made in Venice. The pool interior is designed to suggest the atmosphere of the Roman Bath. On the sides are oversize reproductions of classic Roman figures.
    Hearst himself was a motion movie picture producer for several years, mainly in the newsreel end of it. Thus he had his very own theatre in his castle, which we visited. 
 It seemed the guides were timed and they kept us on the move, on tour one you only see about a quarter of the castle. I believe there are four tours. If I ever go back to California I would definitely want to go back to see more of this man- made wonder. Before Hearst died he realized he wanted to preserve all of this and keep it together. It was a lifetime of gathered treasures intact. In the end he left it to the State of California.
    We gathered together ready for the return trip to our cars. Far to the west the blue Pacific glistened under the noonday sun. We left hoping to return some day.
 
    The next part of our trip was to take us to the Sequoia National Park about 200 miles northwest of where we were as the crow flies, but many more miles by road.
    First we had to drive through some scenic coastal hill and valley country, some of which was fenced and farmed and all of which looked rather dry and infertile. Then we drove through some rather mountainous-like country, before we drove out of the hills onto a great broad irrigated valley. This valley is called the “San Joaquin Valley” It stretches from San Francisco almost as far south as Los Angeles. Here they grew many different kinds of crops, everything from walnuts from walnut trees to vineyards of grapes. There were fields of garden products, lettuce, celery, carrots and onions, and oh yes strawberries.   

 There were even fields of irrigated hay, and many long stacks of bailed hay covered with tarp and weighted down with old car tires.  Hundreds of dairy cows stood in feedlots where they got room service as hay and feed and water were brought to them.
   Since seeing this valley and its incredible productivity I have had many thoughts about it and its future need for more and more water. What will happen if the irrigation system continues to expand or if the weather turns dry as it has in the past and the need of water gets urgent? This valley supplies much of America and Canada also with fresh food year round. We are dependent on it during the winter months. If there is need for more water, can we afford to turn our backs while water in BC flows west into the Pacific Ocean, or if the Americans want more water will they not use trade with us to get what they need?
    Pearl did have a problem with me, as I liked to drive late into the evening and she was always anxious to find an inn, have supper and settle down and enjoy it. Women just love to play house. However in June the days are long and the most beautiful time to drive is when the sun is low in the western sky and behind us. It is easier on the eyes as things take on a soft and mellow, friendly look. We arrived late in the evening at Visalla a nice little town and just a short drive to the Sequoia Park the next day. We had been staying at Days Inns and found them to be constant in hospitality, cleanliness, quality and price. In spite of this, Pearl always had to check the room out first. You can’t go wrong when you have your sister travelling along and looking out for you.
     

    Pearl had taken her TTY phone machine along with her and she was anxious to call Arnold (her husband) from the phone in our room, but for some reason she could not contact a Bell Relay System. So I went down to the office to talk with someone. I was rather surprised to find out that the state of California did not have this kind of service for their deaf. People outside the state could call in and the operators would take the call but you could not call out from California. So I asked them if they would call Arnold in Stratford Ontario and have him call the phone in our room so Pearl could talk to him. They said sure they would do that for us.
    I went back up to our room and told Pearl to connect her phone to the room service phone and wait on a call. She was very happy. 
    Arnold called and I think it made the day for both of them. Later when I was checking out the bill I realized they did not bill us for the call to Stratford.
    In the morning we were soon driving in mountainous country again. As we neared the Sequoia Park entrance a giant Redwood log stood on end with a second huge hand carved slab attached across it. An Indian head was carved into one end of it facing towards the park, big letters written across it read, “Sequoia National Park.” Just beyond the entrance the highway went under a huge bolder sitting above it. This boulder stretched all the way across the highway dwarfing the cars that drove under it. The highway continued to climb up and up from the valley. 

    The park is at a very high altitude. There were many grand views of smoky looking mountains afar off through valleys which opened to us. Soon we began to see huge trees along our route. We stopped at one where the centre had been burnt out. Pearl stood in the burnt out area while I took her picture. It was big enough to drive the car in. The road we were travelling on was what is called The General Sherman’s Trail, and it would take us to the “Giant Forest Village.” 
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Entrance to Sequoia National Park
    We arrived in the village at noon. All around us were these great giants of trees over 3000 year old. Around the base of the tree is a red powder that comes off the bark and is both a fire retardant and it also kills insects, - natures own protection.
We had our lunch in the village restaurant and then wandered out among the trees. Pearl and I have always loved the woods, but this kind of woods was something else. 
    When we were on the trail again we came to what they call, “The General Sherman Tree.” It is the daddy of all trees. It is said to be over 3,500 years old, and is 272 feet high, and 36 feet wide. Now that is a big daddy and a lot of wood! Driving on we came to a grove of these huge trees and as there was a place to park we decided to take a break and stretch out legs.
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Look!    I Found a BIG Tree
  I don’t know just how this happened, but I walked one way to look at something and Pearl walked another. When I turned around she had disappeared. Naturally I called out her name even though I really knew she was deaf and wouldn’t hear me. I walked here and I walked there and there was no Pearl in sight, somehow she had got swallowed up in this vast Silent World and I was getting a bit upset. Then suddenly a head appeared up over a steep ridge in the mountainside and there was Pearl climbing on her hands and knees all covered with dirt mud and stain. She had seen some giant pinecones away down below and wanted to pick them up to take home. Up here on the mountainside with all the great trees and rocks in such massive dimensions, one looses his sense of size. The side of the mountain was much steeper than she imagined and so once she started to slide she rolled and slid all the way to the bottom among the pinecones. It was a wonder she was not hurt, but that was Pearl. She always could take her tumbles. She was not going to go through all that and not get her cones. So there she was coming towards me with her arm full of these huge pinecones and looking as if she had been wallowing with a bunch of wart hogs. She went to the car to clean up and change her clothes. We laugh about it now but it was not very funny right then.
    We followed the road to the north end of The Sequoia Park; from here if you turn west you go out of the park back into the valley and out towards Fresno. If you continue north you go into Kings Canyon National Park. Sitting there in the car we wanted desperately to drive on farther north and see more of this wondrous park. Pearl and I were fascinated with all the things we had seen. We wished we had more time so we could travel on into Kings Canyon but we knew we had to turn back as we were about two days drive north of Oxnard and my cousins. Besides that, Pearl was anxious to get to an inn or motel where she could have a shower and change of clothes after her tumble down the mountainside. 
    So we drove west towards Fresno. This was a place that I had heard of all my life and wanted to see. My grandmother Butson’s sister, my Aunt Tish (Mrs. William Piper) lived here most of her life before she passed away. Tish was also a sister to my dear old Aunt Becky in Vancouver whom I wrote about in the first part of my story. I remember my mom getting letters from Aunt Tish somewhere in California. Somehow I had always pictured Fresno as being closer to the coast. But it is away inland nearer to the mountains in a very fertile irrigated country. Fresno is very much a big city now.
    Horrors! It was late by the time we arrived and as this is the very first city out from the park all the smart people had left the park earlier and now were comfortably settled down in their rooms for the night. We faced rows and rows of “No Vacancy” signs. Poor Pearl was miserable, tired sore and grumpy. She didn’t want to go into a place to eat or be seen until she had a shower and got prettied up.
 
    We were told that there were no vacancies to be found in Fresno, as it was June and tourist time. Our best bet was to drive on to Hanford a town west of Visalla where we had stayed the night before. Looking at the map there was a shortcut down a secondary lonely road of ill repute, so I took that as it cut off miles. There were no towns or villages nor any signs on this stretch of road. We drove and drove and we began to fear we might be lost. All this added to poor Pearl’s misery. Then when we arrived at Hanford there was no vacancy. They phoned the Days Inn in Visalla and they had one room left which they said they would hold for us. So we were back on the road, backtracking to Visalla. Pearl slept most of the way. When we got there I asked her if she wanted to inspect the room. She told me I was not funny. She stayed in the car until I opened the door to the room and then she sneaked in. After a shower we found a nice place for supper and things got better.
    Visalla is situated just east of # 99 freeway going south. So in the morning we were on it knowing that we could make it back to Dan and Shirlyan’s by night. In spite of what had happened last evening we both realized we had a great trip and saw some of the great wonders of California. Again we were driving through irrigated farm country. Nowhere else does one see so many acres of garden products mile after mile. In spite of all that the most impressive thing I remember on that return trip was a huge dairy outside Bakersfield. Never have I seen such a herd of Holstein cows standing in one place. The milk from places like this ends up on the shelves of stores in LA.
    In early evening we reached the place on the freeway where we had to turn off at a town called Saugua. From there we drove west on highway 126 which would take us back onto the coastal highway just north of Oxnard. This meant too that we would be driving out of the flat valley country into the mountainous coastal area. This area was made for beautiful driving in the late evening with the sun lowering itself in the west. We drove up and down and around the rugged mountains with breathtaking views beyond each bend. As we neared the coast the valleys showed smog from the late evening traffic on the freeways of this great populous area, which stretches for miles along the coast. 
    I’m not sure just what time it was when we arrived back in Oxnard, but everyone was looking for us to arrive home that evening. While we had a trip of a lifetime we were glad to get back to my cousins, to be with our loved ones.
     The next day Pearl and I drove to a large shopping centre to do some shopping. I don’t really remember buying anything, but if women don’t go shopping then they haven’t been there. We were inside a store going up on one of several escalators when I looked across and saw my next-door neighbour who lived one apartment down the hall from me. Well you know things like that do not happen. I saw him look my way but there didn’t seem to be any recognition. I mentioned this to Peal saying,
    “That chap over there is the spitting image of Chris Potter my next door neighbour.”  Pearl said. “Oh I suppose there are a lot of look-alike in the world.” So I just let it go.
    I first met Chris Potter at the “Y” a few years ago. He was a guy who worked out in the gym real serious, as I did too, and I think because of this we became friends. He was going to Western University at this time and had a room on Waterloo Street not far from me. Besides university he had a great interest in acting. He had played parts in the London Little Theatre. I remember him as a friendly sort of guy easy to chat with and he liked dogs. Chris’s father who lives in a village just north of London raises German Shepherds just for the love of dogs.
    Chris was looking for an apartment and he just happened to find one down the hall from me. I often saw Chris sneak a puppy into his apartment. The management didn’t take kindly to dogs in the building. Some nights when I went for a walk I would meet Chris out on the sidewalk and we walked together and chatted. He was teaching the puppies how to behave on city streets. While Chris lived in the building he landed his first movie part in a weekly TV show called ‘Material World’ filmed in Toronto.  He played the boy friend of a dizzy gal who owned a material and dress making business. Right at this time in my story, 1992 he was on TV every Wed. night in Material World.
    However as Pearl said there are probably a lot of look-alikes in this world, all this was soon forgotten.  
    The next day we celebrated Aunt Maude’s birthday with a BBQ in Dan and Shirlyan’s, well-groomed back yard. Dan and Shirlyan’s son Scott and his wife, and daughter Michele and husband came too. We had our last evening visit with us all together. Come morning, after our night’s sleep we would be going home.
     I was more than a bit concerned about getting our car back on time to the rental place. My problem was --- I was unsure if I could find the rental place in such a huge place as Los Angeles. Dan was a big help as he sent us on a coastal route on which there was less traffic. It was also close to where we had to go to return the car. 
I think it was mostly luck that we found the place without getting lost. After paying our bill we rode their mini bus back to the airport. Soon we were in the air and flying home to Toronto. We both slept most of the way. After we landed we had to change airports to fly home to London. Pearl was getting very tired by now and found the walking difficult. So I asked an aid for a wheelchair. It came with a very courteous and helpful lady. She told me to follow her and she got behind the wheel chair and soon we were swishing down long passages and places I would have never found on my own and through the final doors into the right airport. 
    She left us and as I turned around Chris Potter came rushing up to me and greeted me with a big hug. He was very excited and happy to see me. 

He said, “Then that was you I saw back in California? I just couldn’t believe a thing like that could possibly happen, and then again I didn’t know who the lady was with you.”
I introduced him to Pearl. He was very excited; he took my pen and pad from my shirt pocket and began to write me a few notes, (notes I kept and still have today.) He had gone to LA for an audition for a new movie called, “The Legend Continues” with a lead roll playing opposite to David Carradine. He got the part and he considered it his first big break into the world as an actor. 
I was the first person he knew that he was able to share it with. Naturally I was very happy for him. He won Pearl as a fan for a lifetime as he took the time to write things down on paper for her so she would understand everything too. I might add that Chris is doing well in the movies industry. Right now I watch him every Monday and Wednesday evening in a weekly series called ‘Wild Card.’     
    Thus ends one of the best holiday trips I ever took, and I was really happy to be able to share it with someone I loved, my sister Pearl.

Chapter 8

Coasting Thru My 60’s In The 90’s
    The first weekend after getting home from California I thought I had better drive down to Wardsville to see Mr. Buchanan as it was now over a month since I last saw him.  I took my barbering tools along, as by now I was sure he would need a haircut. Upon arriving I walked straight to his room. Can you imagine my surprise when I found someone else there who knew nothing of a Mr. Buchanan? 

    I went to the desk and asked where Mr. Buchanan was. It seems they were not at all happy about what had happened either. Mr. Buchanan’s brother and family who were lawyers in Kincardine had come down and talked to him and convinced him into moving north to Kincardine to be closer to them They had brought an ambulance down with them and in great haste they removed him to the Trillium Court Retirement Community Centre in Kincardine.

     I knew where Mrs. McDonald lived near Glencoe so I drove to her home to see what she could tell me about all this. She said it had been a surprise to her also, to find him gone when she went in to visit. I could see she was hurt at the way it had been handled. The least they could have done was to inform her in advance of their plans. After all she was a sister in law and she had done right for him when everyone else stood back and left him on his own. However knowing all about lawyers I guess we should not have been surprised, especially when the lawyers were all in the family. After all there was a few million of dollars involved.

 

    On a nice day a few weeks later I felt the urge to get out of the city and re change my batteries. I am a country boy at heart and every now and then I seem to have the need to get out in the open and away from the city. So I decided I should drive up to Kincardine and see how Mr. Buchanan was making out in his new residence. I have always loved driving north through country roads north of the old Huron Track Highway #8, and then west, into picturesque hill and valley country along the Maitland River. Somehow by luck more then by design I would end up in Benmiller, one of Ontario’s more captivating villages with historic beauty and natural charm…it looks and smells, …of old “Canadian Country.”

     It is a quiet little out of the way village in a tranquil setting along the banks of Sharpe’s creek. A place once found is hard to forget. Then I travelled north through Carlow and Nile, going every which way north by northwest until I ended up in the town of Kincardine. Seldom do I go up, and come home the same way. This is a   picturesque country that holds many great delights for those who like to wander.

    I found, Trillium Court, retirement community on Philips Place without much trouble. It was a new red brick three floor mammoth ultra clean residence, with the air of a hospital. I found Mr. Buchanan in his room asleep in his wheel chair. I called his name quietly and he awoke. It was good to see the reflection of joy come into his sleepy face when he saw me. It was a Sunday and no doubt he was hoping someone would come to visit him. It was sad to see that life was slowly ebbing from his tired body. While he had always been a man of few words, what he had to say was always worth listening to. Though he was a little man he could sometimes do the work of two. He had always been very energetic, tireless and capable. 

   I did have some difficulty understanding what he said, but he was persistent and in the end we managed to understand each other. At times I find it goes better if I sort of guide the conversation. That way I know if we are talking about the elephant or the peanut. Naturally he wanted to hear all about the people he knew locally in and around his old apartment building. How was their health and what were they doing? He would ask how the building was being kept up and if the lawn was kept cut and about his rose bushes outside the entrance doors. I often snitched a rose and took it up to him. He loved the lilacs in the back alleyway so when they were in bloom I would take a bunch of them to him. I knew no one else but me would understand what these things meant to him. They were a part of where he had been for so many years and it was where his heart was. I had worked in those flowerbeds along side him and I knew how much he cared for them, and how even now from afar it was a touch of home for him.

    He insisted that I go for supper with him in the cafeteria. It was nice as we sat at our own table and he introduced me to several of his new friends around us.

     When we finished I wheeled him back to his room and I told him it was time for me to go. I will always remember what he said right then, 

He said, “Jack don’t go away and leave me.” It was more like a plea, and for a minute I didn’t know just what he meant.

I said, “I have to go home Mr. Buchanan, its getting late and I should be on the road.”

    “Jack, I mean don’t go back to London and never come back to see me. Please come back again soon as I need to see you.”

    So we chatted about this and I told him I knew it was difficult for him, and that I would keep in touch with him and see him through this. I would write him a nice letter every two weeks and drive up to see him on the fourth week. We agreed to this. It seemed I was committed to seeing him through these last years of his life. 

     Ever after, when I visited him I would see my letters propped up on his dresser and many of the staff would make comments to me on my letter writing ability. It seems half the hospital had read those letters, and he was very proud of them. As time went by he seemed to lose interest in watching TV or life beyond his four walls. He did enjoy visits, his letters and his meals. His world had become very small. I would talk to him and sometimes he didn’t seem to respond, but I think he just took comfort in the fact that I was there.

On Reaching 65 in 1993

    In the fall of 1993 I would be sixty-five Oct.17th so I decided to fly to Calgary and visit friends and perhaps see a bit of BC. As I still had the shop I was not free to keep it closed too long as that is bad for business. Most of the holidays I took were for ten days so I could be back to work by the middle of the second week. The rent had to be paid, but as this was for my 65th birthday I splurged and took two whole weeks plus 2 days. 

    My friends Ron and Lenora Oddie of Pincher Creek insisted on driving to the Calgary Airport to pick me up. While visiting them they gave me a whirlwind tour of places such as Head Smashed In Buffalo Jump, Writing On Stone National Park, the Oldman River Dam and a visit to Waterton Park, for my birthday dinner.

     Soon it was time to move on so I rented a car from a place in Lethbridge, and left early one morning to drive to Creston BC for a visit with Mike and Jigs. It is a picturesque drive from Pincher Creek through the Crows Nest Pass and then south along the Elk River to Fernie and Elko where the highway turns sharply northwest and then south again to Cranbrook where I stopped for a late dinner. While I was not yet retired I was just a few days short of my 65th birthday and I had many hidden thoughts going round and round in my head about the future. I had worked and planned for retirement for many years but was still not sure if I was ready for it. Old people retire. Right? I had always worked all my life. Was nothing, what I really wanted to do?

     I arrive at Yahk 15 miles north of the Idaho border where the highway turns due west. One drives for miles and nothing much changes, then suddenly as you round the corner near Creston you see apple orchards, and I mean beautiful apples of all kinds. Then there are pears, and plums and peaches. Soon you will see huge fruit and vegetable stands such as one would only expect to see farther west near the coast.

     By now Mike and Jigs were building their dream home out on the farmland in the valley south of town. Jigs had written me and sent directions and a hand drawn map. I still have those directions and the map today. Lenora had phoned ahead to let them know I was on the way. They were watching for me late in the afternoon when I arrived. The new home was something right out of a book, and everything Jigs and Mike had always dreamed about. The house was built on a slope to the south, which ran off in lawn toward the bush. There was a southern deck built high all across the south side of the house and below this deck a patio and sliding doors into a basement apartment on the lower lawn level, a great place for guests or for family members. We talked late into the night and I got up late the next morning and found that Mike had already gone into town. So after Breakfast with Jigs, I took my camera out and wandered about the property. There was an area set aside for a garden although the soil right there was not good as it was heavy clay. I found a well-worn pathway leading off into the bush and down a winding lane to the creek. There I saw the new well, which they had dug a few feet from the creek bed from which the water would seep. All along the way I took pictures. There was the greatest selection of evergreen trees I ever saw in one place, many of evergreen trees I was not familiar with at all. 

    Mike came home with the truck box piled high with green stuff, which turned out to be Alfalfa leaf dust. There was a plant in the valley that made alfalfa into pelts for pet food. All around this pelt machine was alfalfa dust and as any farmer knows this is a great source of nitrogen and good for the soil. He also had several bags of peat moss. Now don’t expect for one minute that Mike planned it this way. However there I was all afternoon wheeling, wheelbarrow loads of alfalfa and peat moss out into the garden while Mike mixed it into the soil with the tiller. Somehow it was good to be working and doing something I also liked to do. As we finished up the garden and put our tools away, I happened to mention something to Mike about taking pictures and walking down to the well. 

He said, “Oh I meant to say something about not going down there alone” so he picked up a baseball bat and asked me to go for a walk with him. We took the path down through the bush leading to the creek and the well. Mike walked to the fresh earth packed all around the well and pointed out some tracks, which he said, were bear tracks. So no one walks down here alone and even then always carries a big stick. That night we planned a day trip for the next day. 

    My friend Mike has this thing about early mornings, so before anyone else is up he has half a day’s work done. What he needs is a big barn and ten milk cows.

I decided to let Mike drive the rental car as he knows this country, and besides he always accused me of having a heavy foot, whatever that means. Soon we were off driving west across the Creston Valley flats that grows many kinds of crops. These crops are irrigated from the Kootenay Lake to the north. Once west of the Kootenay Lakes the winding road rises over the Nelson Range steadily higher and higher until it crosses the Mile High Pass over the great divide. Then we took the route north at Salmo to Nelson. 

    We arrived high above the town of Nelson and it was an amazing sight. I just found it hard to believe such a town existed in this part of BC. It is a town built of brick and limestone and would be more at home in the heart of old Ontario than away up here in this mountainous area of BC. The BC government has refurbished the buildings to preserve the town and attract tourists. North of Nelson we drove the car aboard a large double deck-ferry with an enclosed lounging room above and cruised north on the lake for the most of two hours before docking at Kootenay Bay on the east side. There was an ice cream store high on the shore to the north fronted with a long curved sandy beach and a few tables outside their door. I bought us all banana splits and we sat outside enjoying the sun and the view of the bay. From here we returned home to Creston on the east side of the lake. This is a torturous winding road that hangs tight to the mountainside above the lake, and certainly not a good route for a guy with a heavy foot like me to drive, so we let Mike continue to guide us. 

      We stopped along the way to see “The House of Glass.” It is a house that some retired funeral parlour man built in his retired years. Over many years he visited funeral parlours all over the prairies and BC collecting empty embalming oil bottles to build his house. He first set them together in blocks and then built the block into the house. It is completely fire proof and has natural light; it is not a dollhouse but a full size home built as a castle. However I am not sure that everyone would sleep well in a house built of embalming oil bottles. It was a big day’s drive and we all arrived back a bit tired but happy to be home.

    The weekend was coming up and I had told my nephew Wayne Butler (Bill and Jean’s son) in Red Deer Alberta to expect me. So on the third day I left early in the morning for Red Deer. It was one of those perfect warm sunny October days when the leaves on the trees were in full colour, and the air had that tang of fall to it. First I backtracked the way I had come to just beyond Cranbrook, where I took the road north to Kimberly. Then the road swings north east to join the 95 Highway, which goes north to Golden where it ends at the Trans Canada Highway. By noon I found myself in paradise cruising alongside a small southern branch of the mighty Columbia River through places with strange names like, Ta Ta Creek, Skookumchuck and Canal Flats. Now how can you not love a country with names like this? When lunchtime came I could see a rather nice eating-place straight ahead of me with a great body of water just beyond it. This is a small Columbia Lake and the highway swings left over a bridge on the river to follow the lake along its western shoreline. 

I could not have found a better place to stop for lunch, as the food and service was excellent. My table was in front of a large picture window looking out to the forest in its blaze of colour on the far side of the lake. The sun was high and to the southwest just beyond a colourful mountain. All colours of mountain and trees reflected like a silhouette onto the lake. It was quiet, one could feel it, and oh so peaceful. My thoughts at that time were, if this is a part of my retirement then I am all for it. Perhaps at that time it gave me food for thought, that there was a time for everything, even retirement. There was certainly more to life then just work. I stayed on the 95 all the way to Golden where it ends at the Trans Canada Highway    From there I travelled east to Banff National Park through the Kicking Horse Pass.
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Mountain Beauty on the Yellowhead Hwy.

      The beauty was majestic and breath taking. This put me on the Banff to Jasper Highway just north of Lake Louise. One can’t be this close and not take one more look at such an historic and beautiful place as Lake Louise. It was late in the afternoon and in the mountains it gets dark early. The season ends early here and even though there is much splendour to see it is a cool or even cold splendour indeed. 

    Now I should have turned south from here and found a gas station, but my journey was to take me north about mid way between Banff and Jasper and take the number 11 highway to Rocky Mountain House and from there on to Red Deer. So I turned north from Lake Louise and drove on. There is simply nothing along this stretch of highway, not a gas station for over 50 miles. Darkness came on and my gas gauge said zero for miles and miles. I know I must have had a guardian angel along with me or perhaps like that rabbit on TV, I had the right batteries. When I finally arrived at the #11 highway there was a huge new gas station and motel. I drove on to Rocky Mountain House and stopped for a late supper. I had a waitress phone Wayne, as I was sure by now he would be worried about me. So I asked him if I should stay at Rocky Mountain House overnight or drive on to Red Deer. He said to drive on to Red Deer and he would be up waiting for me when I got there.  It was many years ago that Deke (young Don) Sutherland and I drove up this way to look at a ranch. At that time Rocky Mountain House was just a village with a large village store with Elk horns hung all across its front. Today it is an all-new large modern town with everything from great looking new motels to Tim Horton’s.

     Wayne was at this time working for Fracmaster, an international company in the business of sealing new oil wells and recovering oil from old wells. Wayne was working in Russian Siberia and was home for his holidays. He worked for so many days and then they flew him home for so many days off. He had been doing this for a number of years. He actually seemed to like the job or perhaps the money it paid. 

    I had visited Wayne before in the fall and I don’t know how come my visit always coincided with digging potatoes but strangely enough it always did. After a couple of day’s visit with Wayne I left Red Deer to drive east to Oyen, where I had spent much time in my youth. A part of me will always belong to that country.

    When I pulled out on the freeway to drive south from Red Deer I felt in a good mood. Perhaps it was because I was out of the mountain with a wide-open highway in front of me, or maybe as Mike says I do have a heavy foot. But I stepped on the gas to hurry the car up to the point where I could turn on the speed control. About a quarter mile down the highway there was a growth of trees and an off-the-highway parking area. In there out of sight the Mounties had set up a radar trap. I got flagged off and it cost me big money. In mid afternoon I arrived at the turn off on highway #9 where you drive into the town of Oyen. Every time I return to Oyen so many memories of so many old friends and good times, flood my mind. Many of these friends are by now passed on. A half-mile down this road is the old cemetery where my dear old Aunt Rosena and Uncle Frank are buried. I had not gone far when I noticed a police car ahead. They flagged me to stop. I thought. “Not again!”

However it was just a routine check it seemed. 

Their first question was, “ Where are you going?”

I said, “Do you see that cemetery ahead, well I’m from Ontario out on holidays. Right now I’m going to that cemetery to have a little visit with my aunt and uncle.” [image: image8.jpg]



Uncle Frank & Aunt Rosena’s Grave Memorial Plaques

He shook his head and said, “Well I can’t top that, go ahead and have a nice visit.”

 After a few days’ visit with my many friends in and about Oyen I drove back to Lethbridge to return the car. My good friends Ron and Lenora were there waiting for me at the car rental place. I was to spend a couple more days with them. The next day they wanted to treat me to supper in an all-new plush restaurant at the golf course. I didn’t feel it was at all necessary but they insisted. We arrived donned in our country best, and inside the door there was a large message board on which they would usually write down their special of the day. However in big bold writing was, “ The New Waitress has nice big boobs” WOW! The Oddies were in shock. What a reception! However neither Ron nor I thought they were worth bragging about.

    Now Ron and Lenora begged me to try the rainbow trout as they had it before and said it was the best they ever tasted. On the whole I am not a fish eater. While I love haddock as my fish and chips that is about it. Salmon steak is great if it is cooked thoroughly. As I wanted to please them I let them order me rainbow trout. The place was all new and very beautiful; they put us away over yonder behind some tall palm like plants. It appeared that the management was off and the young staffers were doing more then a little bit of joking around. It took us a long time to get service and then even longer to get served. Then when I went to cut into my trout I think it squirmed. It was raw, very raw. There was no way I was going to be able to eat this fish. I didn’t know what to do as I deeply appreciated what they were doing for me and I wanted to be polite. Ron and Lenora were eating theirs so I started to eat around mine without touching it. They noticed this and asked what was the matter?

     I said, “ My fish is raw, I can not eat it.”

    We tried forever to wave down a server, but with no luck. Part of the reason was because this damn palm plant hid us. All this was sad as I lost my appetite looking at this raw fish on my platter. The Oddies paid the bill and we left. I checked out the bulletin board as we walked out the door and it still advertised the boobs and not the trout.

    Early the next morning they drove me back to the Calgary Airport and saw me off home. Once back in London my friend Olga Filko met my flight and drove me home. The next day I was back to work cutting hair, but my mind was still away out there in the heart of BC, amid the towering mountains and tumbling creeks and rivers. So much was taken in, in all too short a time; it staggers the mind and takes time to accept.

My First Old Age Pension Check

November 1993 Woooopeee

    Hurray! It was the end of November 1993 and my first Old Age Pension Check arrived. I had been taking my Canada Pension for a year now, so along with the shop income things suddenly felt a lot more comfortable. As yet I had no idea of stopping work as I enjoyed my clientele and cutting hair. I just could not see quitting.

    Over the winter I continued to drive up to see Mr Buchanan, and thankfully the weather and roads remained good. It became harder to communicate with him and I can remember feeling relieved when the time came to leave for home as the visit had been taxing; yet I knew he looked forward to spending this time with me.

        Thursday April 6th 1995 at the age of 88 years my dear old neighbour Joy Smith passed away at the Ritz Villa in Mitchell. As I mentioned earlier Ed died in 1978. These two people were a cherished part of my life and close to my heart. 

Mr Buchanan Passes Away

Sept. 15th. 1995

 I came home from work Sept. 15 1995 to find a letter taped to my apartment door. It was from Mr. Buchanan’s niece Wendy Dale who lived here in London. She herself was a lawyer and the daughter of Mr Buchanan’s brother, a lawyer too. Mr. Buchanan had passed away in the afternoon of the day before, which was Sept 14. There was information about visitation at 1 PM until 2 PM before the funeral. The funeral service would be held in the Davey Linkletter funeral home in Kincardine at 2PM the following Sunday. Interment was at the Tiverton Cemetery north of Kincardine, so it was over and I could not help but feel relieved for Mr. Buchanan and for myself but I could not help but wonder what would happen now. While I knew no one had done more for him then I had over the last twenty some years, I still felt it wrong to expect anything. Then again I reminded myself that he had several million dollars involved here so it did not seem at all impossible he might have thought of me and left me something.

     However I never did hear anything about his will or whatever happened to his money to this day. I expect his family of lawyers saw to it that the money stayed close to home and in the family. Now years later I have no regrets, for as a friend I followed through and did what I knew was right.

 

    The next few years went by very smoothly, ‘95, ‘96. I was more relaxed as I had fewer financial worries with my pension checks and my shop income. I started to think about buying a condo as the rent for the apartment was going up every year and the owner was not looking after the property. It was a joke to see as many as three men come with a lawn mower to cut the grass. They left it until it was a foot high, and by then the mower would balk at so much grass. They cut it in every direction blowing it out onto the sidewalk, the street and onto the driveway. One guy would work at it for one minute stalling the motor and having to re start it, as he fought to get from one end to the other and back again. Then a second guy would grab it from him and do the same. When it was finished it looked as if the aliens had landed. When I came home at night from work or on weekends this un-maintained look bothered me to no end. I did not enjoy living like that. I was determine to do something about it, but not sure just what.  

 I Think About  Buying A Condo

     I asked Olga to come with me to take a look at some Condos on Deveron Crescent in southeast London. I found the price was right and they were well maintained and also had good funds in the Condo’s shared cost, balance on hand. One does not want to move into a place that is short on funding for upkeep and maintenance.

     Other things I liked about it were the many conveniences near by. A big box Grocery Store, (its Basic’s now) a Home Hardware a Zeller’s, two gas stations and a Burger King. Then there was a long strip plaza with all conveniences one needs from a library to pizza shops, sub shops, a dry cleaner and variety stores, even a One Dollar Store and a Canada Trust. To top that was a brand new Shoppers Drug Store a new super car wash has been added as of late. Every thing was within walking distance and all relatively new. My thoughts were that if I ever had to give up my wheels this would be a good place to be. It was about one block off Highbury Ave and so a direct route across town to drive north to Mitchell, St.Marys or Stratford and also a direct route to the 401. 

    It was time to do some serious thinking about the future. I had thoughts of buying all new furniture. Although much of what I had at this time was in really good condition it was nearing forty years old, and now with hopefully many years of retirement ahead of me I wanted a change for the sake of change.  I felt it would be good for me health-wise to sort of start anew. I was also wondering just what I was going to do with the old stuff. My first thoughts were of course “garage sales” so I had a number of garage sales. Although it seems many people don’t like doing them, I actually enjoy garage sales and I really made out very well with them. At the first few I would ask a fair price on things and then later on have a fire sale. Then I packed up what was left and took it to the Salvation Army Store. One of the things I took was an under-the-arm crutch, which was in like-new condition. It had been in the closet of my apartment when I moved in and thankfully I never needed it. A week after I gave it to the Salvation Army a close friend had a bad fall and phoned me to ask if they could borrow it. I drove down to the SA Store and bought it back for $10.00. I will just consider it a donation.  Now isn’t that life!

     I shopped all over London for months searching for the perfect Chesterfield and chairs, end tables and wall units. I looked at most furniture today as being rather bulky and too big for condo living. Then one Sunday as I was returning from out of town I decided to stop at “Partridges Furniture” a well-known furniture store for its quality, far out on the #22 Highway west of town. It was closed right then but I knew you could walk across the front and down the sides and view into its huge showcases windows. 

    In the one window I saw exactly what I was looking for and it was love at first sight. It had nice flat oak armrests, square oak legs and the end framed with slats. The end tables matched the design with the same oak legs and slat sides. I thought this part of my search was now over until I went back later to check on the price.  The price was beyond what I thought I should afford. So my search continued. 

   This search took me to what use to be Patton Brothers on Wharncliffe Road South where a second cousin Wayne Butson worked. He showed me everything they had in the store but there wasn’t anything I really wanted. I finally told him I knew exactly what I wanted but I could not afford it. 

    He said, “Jack tell me what it is you want and I will give you a cousin deal?” 

    I said, “ Pray tell me what is a cousin deal?”

    “It’s a whole lot less then you would have to pay anywhere else,” he said

I told him it was La-z-Boy furniture I wanted, so he got out the catalogue and we found the furniture I wanted. We worked on the price and true to his word I could not afford not to buy exactly what I wanted from him. The set I had seen in the window at Partridges Furniture had two love seats and a La-z-Boy chair along with two end tables, so that was what I ordered.

    I returned over the months and bought much more furniture, three sections of wall units and a dining room set and buffet, then a beautiful oak hall table and mirror for my hall, two Queen Ann chairs for the bedroom, and a La-z-Boy bed chesterfield, which was to go in the den. I can’t thank my cousin enough for what he did for me. “Happiness is new furniture paid for.” I was buying the furniture and paying cash for it as I went along. I could do this as I was cutting hair and collecting my pension. At the same time I was selling off, or giving away my old furniture.

     In the summer of 1996 I decided to try to sell the shop before fall so I would not have to drive to work five days a week the next winter. I put an ad in the London Free Press and ran it for a several weeks. A number of barbers came to enquire about the business, but no serious buyers. Everyone wanted to rent it from me or make some kind of weird deal. Right then in 1996 all business in general was not good and people were afraid to step out and take over the shop or start any kind of new business.

    By fall I was getting a bit discouraged and my lease was coming up for renewal by the end of the year. Soon I had to make up my mind as to whether I was going to close the shop down or continue to work. I was more inclined to continue to work.
Yvonne Has A Deal

     Then one day Yvonne Enwrite, who owned “Reflections” a unisex shop in the same plaza, dropped by to see me. We had always got along well and as a rule we never visited each other unless it was for plaza business. I think we both felt the same way. We were aware our shops competed for business in the same area but we respected one another and neither of us would bad-mouth each other. Yvonne asked me how I was making out re selling the business. I told her it looked as if I was going to have to stay working until things got better business-wise.

    She asked, “Do you want to quit work Jack or maybe just work shorter hours?”

I admitted that while I didn’t want to come in to work five days a week anymore I enjoyed cutting hair, so I would consider a job cutting hair a couple of days a week.

    Yvonne said, “So why don’t you just close the shop down and come and work for me a couple of days a week? In the end you might make more out of it than if you sold too cheap.” Now I had not thought of this option and it was right in front of my nose. I told her I would give it serious thought and get back to her.

    Over the next few weeks I managed to sell or give away everything in the shop. My chair went to a shop on Clark Side Road here in London and my beautiful oak barber cupboard went to Bill Kells in Strathroy. Bill had the chair next to me in barber school. My couch and end tables went to my niece in Stratford, and my old oak desk to my niece in Mitchell, as it was her mother, my sister Jean, who had given it to me. Just walking away from the shop was very hard. It was mine and I was proud of it.

   The first week of December 1996, I started to work with Yvonne. At first I believe I sometimes shocked her with what I might say, but in time she came to know that sometimes she had to take what I said with a grain of salt. By the end of the next year we were very good friends and have remained friends until this day.                 The two days a week suited me just fine and while I lost a number of weekend customers it still was a good thing for me and it was also extra money for Yvonne.

A Friend ” Olive Sutherland Passes Away “

Aug.31st. 1996

    It is always sad when those who were an important part of your life at one time pass away. Olive Sutherland died August 31/1997. I cannot visualize her for less than she really was, a well dressed, educated women, sharp and witty with so much love and pride for life, her family, her friends and of course her music. 

    During the summer of 1997, I receiver the sad news Jigs had cancer. She would have to go in for radiation treatments in Vancouver some time soon. Jigs and Mike had friends in Edmonton, Dave and Kathy Laing who had moved there from Creston BC to manage a huge storage company. Dave and Cathy invited them to come and stay with them and take the treatments in Edmonton. This was good as staying in Vancouver for several weeks would have cost them a lot of money. 

    I decided to take another trip west to see all my old friends once more and I also could visit with Jigs while she was taking her treatments in Edmonton. Perhaps I could cheer her, but secretly I was also afraid it might be the last chance I would have to visit with her.

    I flew to Calgary where Ron and Lenora Oddie met my flight. We drove back to Pincher Creek for a few days where we could unwind together over many cups of coffee and endless chatter. It was always a great way to start off my holiday trip as I am with old friends tried and trusted. I get all the local news on the many people we both know. Then I get a pep talk on Alberta’s many woes with Ontario and also an incriminating disclosure of our dear old Ottawa. Of course the best part of it is, it is all for free. It does not cost me a cent unless of course I open my mouth. 

    Lenora took me to the Ford Dealer, the only place that rents cars in Pincher Creek. I rented a brand new small Ford model, an Escort. At the time I was not impressed, but I learned to love the car. It had wheels that served me well, and in the mountains it amazed me with its response, and the deal was very good. 

    My plans were to drive across country to Oyen where I would visit the Bull family and see all my friends there once more. Even then in the back on my mind was the hope that if I went by the town of Brooks I might visit with my old friend Deke Sutherland. He was now living there in a Senior Citizen Home.

Deke and Cathy

   Away back in the first part of my book I introduced you to a family, “The Sutherlands” Don, Olive and their three sons Deke, Colin and Neil, a ranch family near the village of Lanfine south west of Oyen Alberta. 

    I ended that part of my story with the oldest Sutherland son Deke and Cathy Campbell seemingly a happy couple who would marry that fall after the harvest was off and I had returned home to the east. While I was very happy for them I was yet concerned, as I have always been under the impression one cannot expect to have a full and satisfied life without God’s blessings. You cannot openly or even secretly defy or deny God and have a full life. 

    Young Deke had shared his innermost thought with me and I knew basically he was a great person. He was fast to learn, quick to move and always had to be the best man on the job. Although short in stature he was strong in body and will, he was perhaps more like his father, very set and stubborn with his own convictions. Perhaps his greatest problem was that of his stature as he felt the need to always prove himself. In some ways we were alike and in other ways we were far apart. In
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